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● (1105)

[English]
The Chair (Hon. Judy A. Sgro (Humber River—Black

Creek, Lib.)): I call the meeting to order.

This is meeting number 63 of the Standing Committee on Inter‐
national Trade. Today's meeting is taking place in a hybrid format,
pursuant to the House order of June 23, 2022. Therefore, members
are attending in person in the room and remotely using the Zoom
application.

I need to make a few comments for the benefit of witnesses and
members. Please wait until I recognize you by name before speak‐
ing. When speaking, please speak slowly and clearly. For those par‐
ticipating by video conference, click on the microphone icon to ac‐
tivate your mike. Please mute yourself when you are not speaking.

With regard to interpretation, for those on Zoom, you have the
choice at the bottom of your screen of floor, English or French. For
those in the room, you can use the earpiece and select the desired
channel. This is a reminder that all comments should be addressed
through the chair. For members in the room, if you wish to speak,
please raise your hand. For members on Zoom, please use the
“raise hand” function. The clerk and I will manage the speaking or‐
der as best we can. We appreciate your patience and understanding.
Please also note that during the meeting, you're not allowed to take
pictures in the room or screenshots on Zoom. Should any technical
challenges arise, please advise me. We will suspend in order to en‐
sure that all members get to participate fully.

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(2) and the motion adopted by the
committee on Friday, November 25, 2022, the committee is resum‐
ing its study of non-tariff barriers in Canada's existing and potential
international trade agreements.

We have with us today Ian Laird, a lawyer, as an individual, by
video conference; Jeff Nankivell, president and chief executive of‐
ficer, Asia Pacific Foundation of Canada, by video conference; and
Brian Kingston, president and chief executive officer, Canadian Ve‐
hicle Manufacturers' Association.

Welcome, Mr. Kingston. It's especially nice to have you in per‐
son.

From the National Cattle Feeders' Association, we have Janice
Tranberg, president and chief executive officer, and William Lowe,
chair of the board of directors, by video conference. From Pulse
Canada, we have Mac Ross, director, market access and trade poli‐
cy, by video conference.

Welcome to all of you. If you want to intervene on a question,
raise your hand. Sometimes you'll have to raise it twice in order to
get my attention, but we'll make sure you get your opportunity.

Again, welcome to everyone.

Mr. Laird, I invite you to make an opening statement of up to
five minutes, please.

Mr. Ian Laird (Lawyer, As an Individual): Good morning.

Thank you very much for the invitation today. I very much ap‐
preciate it.

My name is Ian Laird, as Madam Chair mentioned. I'm a Canadi‐
an lawyer, but I'm also a partner at the international law firm of
Crowell & Moring LLP in Washington, D.C. I've been practising
international trade and investment law for over 25 years now and
have been resident in Washington for 17 of those years.

It's indeed an honour to be able to speak to the committee this
morning. In particular, it is a pleasure to see you again, Madam
Chair, addressing this topic that is very important to the work of
this committee and for Canada.

I have to add one disclaimer. I wish to mention that I'm speaking
here in my personal capacity and not on behalf of any other person
or organization. In particular, I'm not speaking on behalf of my law
firm or any of my clients.

The topic is of particular interest, and when I heard that the com‐
mittee was dealing in particular with the review of other irritants
and concerns within existing trade deals, I felt that I could add to
the discussion in light of my personal involvement with these
treaties, and treaties like them, as both a practitioner and an aca‐
demic.

I wanted to focus on two elements: in particular, the international
investment law and dispute resolution provisions we find in these
trade agreements, as well as with respect to investment by Canada's
international resource and extractive industry abroad, another area
that I've worked very closely with over the time that I've been
working on investment and trade issues.
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Now, it really goes without saying—and I don't really have to tell
this committee—that investment and trade go hand in hand. There
are certain types of international business, like mining and extrac‐
tive industries, which by necessity can only occur where the re‐
sources are located, and that's abroad and in foreign jurisdictions.

It's a fact that many of these jurisdictions have developing legal
systems and challenging environments legally speaking. That's
where international law and our free trade agreements come into
place. They help to protect our investors abroad and provide mech‐
anisms for dispute resolution. We find these types of provisions in
our foreign investment promotion and protection agreements,
which, as you know, are FIPAs, and our free trade agreements.

Why am I focusing on natural resources and mining? The stats—
this is from 2019 from Global Affairs' office of the chief
economist—show that 44% of our foreign direct investment from
Canada in Central and South America relates to the extractive in‐
dustry. In Africa, the figure is over 50%.

MAC has stated in its material that Canadian mining companies
operate in more than 100 countries around the world and, according
to NRCan, 650 Canadian companies held mining assets abroad val‐
ued at $174.4 billion in 2018. That's the most recent year for this
data.

Let me put this briefly. Canadian miners are some of the best in
the world and some of the most active. They represent a large pro‐
portion of the international extractive industry abroad. Seventy-five
per cent of international mining companies are headquartered in
Canada—in particular, in Toronto and Vancouver—and a great deal
of the financing from Canada comes through the Toronto Stock Ex‐
change.

What this means is that Canada and Canadians expend signifi‐
cant amounts of sweat and equity to supply the world with the es‐
sential materials to support the modern and future economy, includ‐
ing what is needed for the climate change transition. We have a nat‐
ural competitive advantage in the world, and we should support it
in our trade and investment agreements.

This is where we get to the “irritants” part. There is a concern—
and I think it's one worth examining— that our investment agree‐
ments and related FTA provisions have become too defensive and
don't support our industry abroad in the way that they could. We've
seen recent examples of where the protections under these agree‐
ments have been diminished and in some cases even eliminated. If
we are going to do what's necessary in the future to support the
world economy, this is going in the wrong direction.
● (1110)

The final summary point on that is that Canada really needs to up
its game in the investment area and engage more deeply with trad‐
ing partners and the lead industries abroad in supporting these types
of international investment protections.

To give you a couple of examples—I know my time is coming
up very shortly—Canada is, in fact, behind in signing these types of
treaties, these FIPAs and free trade agreements. If you look at other
countries, like the U.K. or Italy, or even China, they have signifi‐
cantly more such agreements. We can see a starker example in the

recent signing of the USMCA. In fact, the protections for foreign
investors were withdrawn in that treaty for Canada vis-à-vis the
United States, so a Canadian mining investor can no longer seek in‐
vestor-state dispute resolutions in the United States as it could un‐
der the previous NAFTA.

There are other worrying signs, which I think warrant some
questioning. I imagine the minister will address this when she ap‐
pears, but the pace of the negotiation of free trade agreements and
foreign investment promotion and protection agreements has de‐
creased dramatically over the last few years. There are significant
gaps in Canada's treaty practice that should be addressed and could
be addressed.

I'm going to stop at this point. I'm open to further questions, and
I look forward to the discussion with the committee.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Laird.

We'll go to Mr. Nankivell, please, for up to five minutes.

[Translation]

Mr. Jeff Nankivell (President and Chief Executive Officer,
Asia Pacific Foundation of Canada): Good morning, everyone.

[English]

Greetings from the head office of the Asia Pacific Foundation of
Canada in Vancouver, on the traditional ancestral and unceded terri‐
tories of the Squamish, Musqueam and Tsleil-Waututh peoples.

● (1115)

[Translation]

The Asia Pacific Foundation of Canada was created through an
act of Parliament in 1984, with a mandate to promote Canada's en‐
gagement in the region.

[English]

Today, as we urgently seek to diversify our export markets and
our sources of supply for imports, this mandate to promote engage‐
ment for Canadians is more relevant than ever.

At APF Canada, we can supply lots of quantitative and qualita‐
tive data about the Asia-Pacific. There is rich material available on
our website, asiapacific.ca, which I commend to the committee. To‐
day I will focus my opening remarks on the impact of NTBs—non-
tariff barriers—in the Asia-Pacific region and situate their impor‐
tance in free trade agreements.
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I should preface the rest of my remarks by saying that while I
have had.... I joined the Asia Pacific Foundation of Canada as pres‐
ident and CEO in September 2021, after a 33-year career as a diplo‐
mat for Canada, mostly in Asia. At times, it was with responsibility
for all of Asia. At other times, I was on postings in China and Hong
Kong. I have never done so in the capacity of a trade negotiator, but
I think I am in a position to provide an overview on the situation in
Asia, and I look forward to engaging with the committee.

I know that the committee has already heard from numerous wit‐
nesses about non-tariff barriers—I'll say “NTBs” from now on—in
general. Here is a snapshot of the situation in Asia.

Asia-Pacific economies have reported over 14,000 technical bar‐
riers to trade—we call those TBTs—and sanitary and phytosanitary,
or SPS, measures to the World Trade Organization in the last 23
years. China has the highest number of NTBs in the region, fol‐
lowed by Japan and South Korea. The number of reported non-tar‐
iff barriers in the region has been growing.

At the same time, most Asian economies are seeking to reduce
trade barriers and harmonize standards, which has manifested in a
steady rise in trade agreements over the last decade. These include
various agreements that the Association of Southeast Asian Nations
has negotiated with groupings in Asia—we call them “ASEAN
plus” agreements—that culminated in the Regional Comprehensive
Economic Partnership, or RCEP, which consists of ASEAN plus
China, Japan, South Korea, Australia and New Zealand.

I know that the committee has already heard much about the
Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Part‐
nership, or CPTPP. Recent years have also seen various new bilat‐
eral FTAs. For example, Canada, as you know, is currently negoti‐
ating trade agreements bilaterally with ASEAN, India and Indone‐
sia.

Chapters dealing with NTBs in regional free trade agreements
have expanded over time, with the CPTPP today regarded as the
global benchmark for regulating NTBs. The CPTPP goes further
than other regional trade agreements in regulating these barriers.
One study showed that NTB harmonization under CPTPP was
found to reduce the prices of goods and increase GDP. NTBs are
expected to remain an important feature of trade agreement negoti‐
ations in the region and will be important for our allies and partners
in the Asia-Pacific.

While the incorporation of NTBs into FTAs restricts policy
space—in other words, countries will find it harder to impose
NTBs, as they will need to be consistent with their FTA obliga‐
tions—it can improve trade access by aligning NTBs in these
agreements across regulatory policies. This makes it easier for ex‐
porters to create products that can be sold in economies with
aligned NTBs, due to a similarity of standards. This, in fact, is one
of the big payoffs of ambitious regional trade agreements.

The 10 economies of ASEAN in Southeast Asia have recognized
the need to streamline NTBs and have signed an ASEAN Trade in
Goods Agreement with a chapter dedicated to NTBs. Australia also
studies NTBs closely and published an NTB action plan in 2018.

It's important for Canada to get NTBs in trade agreements right
and to help its partners in the region by building their technical ca‐

pacities to implement and understand NTBs. Canada's FTAs under
negotiations with ASEAN, India and Indonesia include provisions
on NTBs, with Canada pushing for an ambitious agenda, while our
negotiating partners are looking for policy flexibility on NTBs.

Canada should continue to provide technical assistance through
initiatives such as the expert deployment mechanism for trade and
development to help developing country trade partners understand
Canada's trade clauses in comprehensive FTAs.

APF Canada has contributed to technical assistance training for
ASEAN trade officials to understand and learn from the Canadian
approach to the participation of micro, small and medium-sized en‐
terprises, or MSMEs, in trade. We have provided technical informa‐
tion, for example, on the Canadian approach to FTAs to ASEAN
policy-makers in areas such as rules of origin, customs and trade fa‐
cilitation, and TBT and SPS measures.

In conclusion, NTBs are prevalent in Asia. They can have a dis‐
torting impact on trade. That being said, there are NTBs that protect
public health and the environment, as well as societal goals in areas
such as languages, diversity and inclusion. Canada should continue
to negotiate NTB clauses in FTAs to increase the transparent and
scientific use of these measures, balancing the legitimate use of
NTBs with concerns about their use as a protectionist measure.

We should also support micro, small and medium-sized enter‐
prises, both in Canada and in Asia, that are interested in exporting,
as they often lack the resources to comply with NTBs. This dis‐
courages them from entering new markets, such as Asia for Canadi‐
ans.

APF Canada has done detailed work in some of these areas.
We're happy to share that with the committee.

● (1120)

[Translation]

Thank you for inviting me, and I look forward to our discussion.

[English]

The Chair: Thank you very much.
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Mr. Kingston, you have up to five minutes, please.
Mr. Brian Kingston (President and Chief Executive Officer,

Canadian Vehicle Manufacturers' Association): Great. Thank
you.

Good morning, Madam Chair and committee members. Thank
you for the invitation to take part in your study today on non-tariff
barriers in Canada's existing and potential trade agreements. It's a
pleasure to be here in person this morning.

The Canadian Vehicle Manufacturers' Association, or CVMA, is
the industry association that represents Canada's leading manufac‐
turers of light and heavy-duty motor vehicles. Our membership in‐
cludes Ford Motor Company of Canada, General Motors of Canada
Company and Stellantis, FCA Canada. In 2022 more than 1.2 mil‐
lion vehicles were produced in Canada. The industry directly em‐
ploys approximately 136,000 Canadians, with another half a mil‐
lion employed in the aftermarket services and dealership networks.

CVMA members are at the forefront of new automotive invest‐
ment in Canada. Over the past three years, Ford, General Motors
and Stellantis have announced over $13.5 billion in investment,
which will create 6,000 direct jobs and tens of thousands through‐
out the auto supply chain. Most of this investment is dedicated to
EV assembly and the battery supply chain to serve the North Amer‐
ican marketplace.

These investments are all part of an unprecedented technological
transformation that's taking place in the industry right now to fight
climate change. Automaker investments into electrification are esti‐
mated at $1.2 trillion U.S. through 2030.

Due to the highly integrated nature of the North American auto
sector, the CVMA and our member companies support policies that
align with and enhance North American integration. With over 90%
of Canadian production exported to the United States, CUSMA is
what underpins the success of this industry. The consistency of au‐
tomotive regulations across the larger North American market has
never been more important than today, when our companies are pri‐
oritizing investments of billions of dollars required to fund this shift
to EVs, batteries and the associated supply chain.

It's for this reason that our top priorities are ensuring that CUS‐
MA remains in force and every effort is made to align our automo‐
tive regulations with the United States. We recommend a number of
actions.

First, prepare for the CUSMA review. Business investment
thrives on certainty. CUSMA provides companies with the certainty
required to invest in Canada knowing that they can access the U.S.
market. In 2026 parties to CUSMA must renew the agreement or it
will be sunset in 2036, pending an annual review process. A non-
renewal would constitute a major non-tariff barrier, as it would re‐
move the certainty required to enable new investment in Canada.
We call on the federal government to launch a team Canada ap‐
proach to building support for renewal of this agreement in 2026.
This initiative should include governments at all levels, businesses
and Canada’s network of consulates across the U.S.

Second, maintain regulatory alignment with the United States.
Canada’s seat at the North American automotive table and the hun‐

dreds of thousands of jobs the industry provides depend on contin‐
ued regulatory alignment of vehicle safety and emissions standards.
The federal government is currently advancing a regulated zero-
emission vehicle sales mandate that constitutes a significant non-
tariff barrier by micromanaging vehicle sales across Canada. This is
a direct challenge to Canada’s long-standing integration with the
United States through CUSMA and our competitiveness as a zero-
emission vehicle manufacturing jurisdiction. I would also note that
it's a direct challenge to Canada's recently implemented inter‐
provincial trade agreement, the Canadian Free Trade Agreement,
which aims to create a common market across Canada.

Finally, we must ensure reciprocity in all our trade agreements.
This will allow domestic companies to receive, on an equivalent
basis, the same opportunities to compete fairly in foreign markets
as non-Canadian companies have coming into our domestic market.
When non-tariff barriers do arise, dispute settlement mechanisms in
free trade agreements are an indispensable tool to address them. It's
critical that these mechanisms be functional in all our existing trade
agreements and future trade agreements that we negotiate.

I look forward to answering any questions.

Thank you again.

● (1125)

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Kingston.

Ms. Tranberg, you have up to five minutes, please.

Ms. Janice Tranberg (President and Chief Executive Officer,
National Cattle Feeders' Association): Good morning. My name
is Janice Tranberg. I'm the president and CEO of the National Cat‐
tle Feeders' Association. I'm joined today by Will Lowe, the chair
of NCFA and a feedlot operator in Kyle, Saskatchewan.

NCFA is the national voice for cattle feeders. As a critical com‐
ponent of the beef value chain, feedlots effectively and efficiently
produce consistent, high-quality beef in quantities that are required
for both domestic and export markets year-round.

Canada's beef industry contributes $21.8 billion to the national
GDP annually. It's highly export-dependent. Each year Canada ex‐
ports about half of the beef we produce. The United States counts
for about 75% of these exports. Japan, China, Mexico and Korea
are other key markets.
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I'll turn it over to Will.
Mr. Will Lowe (Chair of Board of Directors, National Cattle

Feeders' Association): Canada's recent BSE negligible risk status
helps position Canada in export markets as a provider of world-
class beef products at a competitive price point. Over the last 10
years, our Canadian live cattle exports have seen tremendous
growth, from $1.4 billion to $4.5 billion. Not surprisingly, demand
from the United States is behind much of that growth.

While this is a good news story for our industry, there is concern
about Canada's dependence on the American market and our need
to diversify our trade. Thus, our concerns on trade barriers fall into
two categories: long-standing trade irritants with the United States,
and persistent non-tariff trade barriers with our free trade agree‐
ments around the globe.

The cattle industry is a tremendously integrated North American
market. Significant numbers of live cattle cross the border back and
forth every day, destined to fill either a feedlot in the United States
or Canada, or go into a finished market in both countries. In 2021,
over 375,000 head of U.S. feeder cattle were brought into Canada
from the United States. That's an increase of 247% since 2017.

However, there are multiple requirements at the border that nega‐
tively impact commerce as well as the welfare of live cattle. For ex‐
ample, cattle moving across the border in either direction need to be
inspected by a certified vet at the country of origin and destination.
Once the vet has inspected the cattle, the inspection reports then
need to be sent up to CFIA and USDA. That can often take a week
or more. This appears to be a duplication in the system. If we trust
our certified veterinarians who provide inspection reports when the
cattle are loaded onto trucks and sealed, why do these reports need
to go up for further inspection before they can be moved?

In addition, the USDA has been reducing the time and location
of certified veterinarians at the border crossings, causing significant
issues with trucks crossing the border. We're now concerned with
potential voluntary country of origin labelling again in the United
States. A change in the “Product of USA” labelling regulations
could result in higher costs for consumers at the grocery store. We
need to advocate that together we are stronger and more resilient.

Ms. Janice Tranberg: Canada still requires the removal of spec‐
ified risk material. Even though we've received BSE negligible risk
status, the average cost for this disposal is around $167 per metric
ton. This is putting Canada at quite a significant disadvantage to the
U.S.

When it comes to global trade of our beef, there are some addi‐
tional concerning examples where it seems politics is trumping sci‐
ence. While new free trade agreements are exciting, in reality, it of‐
ten takes months or years before Canadians are actually seeing the
benefit. For our sector, this is especially true with CETA, as a non-
tariff barrier on cattle carcass washing is leaving us with little to no
access for our beef. With the U.K. accession to the CPTPP, we are
extremely concerned that this imparity will continue.

For example, in 2021, the U.K. exported beef to Canada at a val‐
ue of about $16.3 million. In 2022, the U.K. exported beef to
Canada, and it grew to $33.2 million. In contrast, Canada exported
beef to the U.K. at a value of only $7.6 million in 2021, and none in

2022. Free trade agreements must not put the Canadian market at a
disadvantage.

Another example is that our beef has been locked out of China
since 2021 due to an atypical case of BSE. China has opened trade
for other countries, including Brazil, which had the same finding of
an atypical BSE case just this year, yet trade has already resumed.

We call upon the government to increase its efforts with the U.S.
to create a seamless border that reflects an integrated North Ameri‐
can commerce for cattle. We ask that the government deliver urgent
resolution to non-tariff trade barriers that are presently impacting
the agriculture sector, and proactively examine Canada's current
free trade agreements to determine how to maximize the potential
that lives within these agreements.

Thank you.

● (1130)

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Next, we have Mr. Ross for five and a half minutes, please.

Mr. Mac Ross (Director, Market Access & Trade Policy,
Pulse Canada): Thank you, Madam Chair and members of the
committee, for the invitation to be here. It's a pleasure to speak with
you today on a very important topic for Canada's growing pulse in‐
dustry. My name is Mac Ross, and I'm the director of market access
and trade policy at Pulse Canada.

Pulse Canada is the national association representing growers,
traders and processors of Canadian pulses, which include dry peas,
lentils, beans, chickpeas and fava beans. On behalf of our members,
we're proudly leading the future of healthy, sustainable food
through the growth of Canada's pulse industry.

The success of our sector, like many agri-food sectors in Canada,
relies heavily on free and open trade with the global market. Our
competitiveness in each of these markets is dependent on pre‐
dictable rules-based trade.
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Canada is the world's largest exporter of pulses. Roughly 85% of
pulses grown in Canada are exported to some 120 markets around
the world. At Pulse Canada, we believe that pulses can pave the
way to a healthier and more sustainable future, providing solutions
for every link in the value chain. Achieving this directly relies on
our ability to advance trade opportunities and eliminate barriers.
When given a chance to compete, our industry is a Canadian suc‐
cess story. We see tremendous opportunity to grow and diversify
Canadian pulse exports in markets like the EU, North America and
the fast-growing Indo-Pacific region.

However, the increasing prevalence of market access issues,
mainly in the form of non-tariff barriers or NTBs, continues to be
the biggest roadblock to our industry's ability to compete and
achieve market growth. Our success relies on strong trade agree‐
ments that ensure predictable access, but in Canada, it relies on a
level playing field with our competitors. It also requires a respon‐
sive, flexible government with on-the-ground technical expertise to
ensure that these free trade agreements are not hampered by the rise
of NTBs.

Canada has done a good job signing free trade agreements.
We've seen significant tariff reduction for exports in many of our
key markets, but this has been met with an increasing level of
NTBs in markets of key importance.

While many of these non-tariff barriers can be regulations and
technical measures designed to address legitimate health and safety
objectives, others, we know, are deliberately imposed to thwart
competition and protect domestic producers. To complicate matters
even further, this is all happening in the context of a weakened
WTO and a clear shift away from multilateralism and the rules-
based trading system. The nexus of trade and climate, while impor‐
tant, may also present new challenges by way of NTBs.

From a pulse industry perspective, we continue to face long-
standing barriers with large pulse-importing markets like India.
These include unpredictable and technically unjustified SPS re‐
quirements and India's unjustified imposition of a quantitative im‐
port restriction on peas, which has effectively closed off what was
once our largest pea market. Over the past five years, we've also
seen other markets increasingly introduce NTBs that impede trade.
These range from fumigation requirements in Pakistan and unjusti‐
fied wheat seed requirements in Vietnam to abrupt import bans in
markets like Sri Lanka and Nepal.

The common feature among all these issues is that Canada has
had no advance warning. These barriers only became apparent once
shipments were denied entry at port or en route at the time of the
measure's implementation, leaving both industry and government
reacting.

These issues have occurred in markets where Canada has exist‐
ing free trade agreements, like the CPTPP, and in several cases in
markets where Canada is currently negotiating an agreement, like
India. It really underscores the importance of focusing on address‐
ing NTBs for those negotiating and implementing Canada's trade
agreements. We feel that this can be done by ensuring that we have
strong trade rules and effective dispute settlement mechanisms
within these agreements, but also by increasing our capacity in
these markets to proactively address NTBs before they arise.

We rely on our government partners to address and resolve these
barriers. Quite frankly, we've really struggled in successfully ad‐
dressing these issues before the point at which they're having real
commercial impact. Pulse Canada continues to support strengthen‐
ing Canada's advocacy capacity within the trade and diplomatic
network to address NTBs. That's why we were very pleased to see
the inclusion of a Canadian Indo-Pacific agriculture and agri-food
office in the government's Indo-Pacific strategy. This is a great first
step and something Canada needs to do more of. In-country re‐
sources to tackle NTBs in a strategic, coordinated manner with in‐
dustry will help maintain and build market access for Canadian
agri-food exports.

This will be a very important study for our sector. We really look
forward to playing an active role as it takes shape. We thank all the
members in advance for taking this important work seriously.

Thank you. I look forward to any questions.

● (1135)

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Ross.

Now we move to Mr. Seeback for six minutes, please.

Mr. Kyle Seeback (Dufferin—Caledon, CPC): Thank you,
Madam Chair.

Mr. Kingston, I just want to start with you. At one of our com‐
mittee hearings, I put to Mr. Volpe something that you had said
with respect to decoupling regulations with respect to autos in the
United States. Mr. Volpe said:

While it may be attractive to create a bit of an island so that you can provide a
narrative in Canada—a leadership narrative, noble as it is—it does put Canadian
manufacturing at a disadvantage, because what will happen, which we've seen
happen specifically, is that companies will either have to create a “subnational
jurisdiction only” product or they'll pull the product.

You mentioned this—how we seem to be decoupling with the
United States on zero-emission vehicle targets. How significant a
problem is it if we do that? How many Canadian autos are exported
to the United States and, therefore, how much would that be in ef‐
fect if this decoupling continues?

Mr. Brian Kingston: Thank you.

It's a significant problem. Over 90% of what we produce in this
country goes to the United States. That is the market. The reason
manufacturers locate here is to access that market.
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What we're seeing is a very concerning trend of decoupling, par‐
ticularly on the ZEV file. The reason this industry has succeeded in
Canada is that, since the Auto Pact, there's been recognition by
government that we must align our regulations for things like vehi‐
cle safety and emission standards and also our trade policies with
the United States to be part of that integrated market. That was re‐
inforced in the NAFTA agreement and most recently reinforced in
the CUSMA, the USMCA. We have always aligned our regulations
across the board but specifically on emissions.

We just recently saw the Biden administration come forward
with very stringent vehicle emissions targets. Canada, instead of
taking the approach of aligning with the U.S., is now pursuing it's
own zero-emission vehicle sales mandate, which is a totally new
regulation. It's frankly redundant and unnecessary in the context of
what the Biden administration is doing. It's very concerning, and
it's very problematic for industry.

Mr. Kyle Seeback: Thanks very much.

I wanted to speak with Mr. Laird. You've been talking a little
about NTBs, and my question is this: We heard from the Asia Pa‐
cific Foundation about 14,000 NTBs now coming up mostly from
China, Japan and South Korea. We also know issues with respect to
sanitary and phytosanitary measures and NTBs are coming up in‐
creasingly at the WTO. What I keep hearing though is that things
are not getting resolved at the WTO in any kind of a rapid manner,
if at all.

I wonder if you could comment on how important it is to have
extraordinarily robust mechanisms within FTAs to deal with NTBs.
I know that was a lot of acronyms.

Mr. Ian Laird: I think you raised a really important point about
dispute resolution, indirectly, which is one of the areas I specialize
in.

The WTO has been experiencing, for the last many years, real
difficulties in dealing with its dispute resolution mechanism, which
is really marginalizing it in many ways and is increasingly unfortu‐
nate.

What that does is it forces countries to take the bull by the horns,
so to speak, and address those types of issues in free trade agree‐
ments. I think our trade associations have been very mindful of
that, and the focus has been on developing free trade agreements
like the ASEAN agreement, which is obviously an absolutely criti‐
cal region for Canadian trade and investment.

From my perspective and what I wanted to speak about today on
investment is that, although not called a non-tariff barrier, it is an
impediment to Canadian activities in regions like ASEAN if inter‐
national protections, not only trade protections but also investment
protections, are provided for investors.

Part of it is that international trade isn't just about sending stuff
abroad. Our companies work abroad. They have operations abroad.
To have that complete business model, many of them operate a
large percentage of their business abroad. The types of protections
you can see in investment agreements and in investment provisions
of these types of treaties are absolutely critical, again, to provide
that environment where, whether you call them non-tariff barriers
or not, you must have the top-quality provisions.

● (1140)

Mr. Kyle Seeback: Canada has a host of new agreements that
they're looking to negotiate—FTAs. Where you would put the dis‐
pute mechanisms dealing with non-tariff barriers on the scale of im‐
portance in negotiating those agreements: the absolute top or very
near the top? That's my question.

Mr. Ian Laird: Those types of non-tariff barriers end up being
the types of irritants that lead to these types of disputes. Those
treaties absolutely need dispute resolution provisions. To not have
those types of provisions incredibly hampers our traders and in‐
vestors because there's no impact for breaches of those treaties. I'd
put a very high priority on having those types of provisions.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We'll go to Mr. Virani for six minutes, please.

Mr. Arif Virani (Parkdale—High Park, Lib.): Thank you very
much, Madam Chair.

Thank you to all the witnesses here and online for joining us for
this very important study.

I'd like to make a comment before I start my questions. I think
one of the witnesses said earlier that we've had a sort of slowdown
in the negotiation of FTAs. I would respectfully beg to differ. In the
last seven years, Canada has actually concluded agreements on
CETA, CPTPP and CUSMA. We remain the only member of the
G7 that has a free trading relationship with every other member of
the G7. As one of the later witnesses pointed out, we're actively
pursuing agreements with ASEAN, India and Indonesia, and also
the U.K.

For my first question, I'd like to turn to the folks from Pulse
Canada.

Mr. Ross, you pointed out the prevalence, unfortunately, notwith‐
standing our being the world's largest pulse exporter to over a hun‐
dred countries around the planet, of the issue of sanitary and phy‐
tosanitary standards continuing to rear its ugly head, sometimes in
less than ideal or less than good-faith ways. You touched on this
fact. You know that the Indo-Pacific strategy we launched last fall
includes an agricultural office in situ or on site in the region. It's
funded to the tune of almost $32 million.

Can you tell the committee what that kind of office represents in
terms of an opportunity to be there on the ground and to ideally
ward off issues before they arise, but secondly to deal with issues
once they come up? How does that affect your work?
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Mr. Mac Ross: That was something that Pulse Canada along
with a number of our other counterparts at ag commodity associa‐
tions in Canada supported very much. As I mentioned, it's very im‐
portant that, in addition to having these mechanisms within trade
agreements, we have a sustained and long-term presence and rela‐
tionship-building initiatives by both industry and government in the
regions that we trade with.

We know that while some of the barriers we face are put in place
deliberately for protectionist reasons, many of these barriers are al‐
so often due to the importing country's lack of resources, time or
expertise to implement proper risk assessment systems for incom‐
ing commodities. We know that, specifically in the Indo-Pacific,
many of these economies could benefit from regulatory and techni‐
cal capacity-building work. We hope to see a major focus on that
through this office. We're very happy to see this as a first step to‐
wards that.
● (1145)

Mr. Arif Virani: Thank you, Mr. Ross.

You'll know that Minister Goyal from India, the minister of com‐
merce who is Mary Ng's analogue, is actually in Ottawa these next
couple of days. There are some events and discussions happening
in relation to the early progress agreement that's being pursued. You
can rest assured—I've heard you on the peas issue—that it will be
raised, but in terms of the opportunity of working toward that
agreement with India, are there specific issues or matters that you
would like us to be raising with Minister Goyal, given this momen‐
tous opportunity of having him here on the ground in Ottawa as we
speak?

Mr. Mac Ross: For sure. We very much support the govern‐
ment's efforts to conclude an early progress trade agreement with
India. An EPTA that creates predictable and transparent policy in
general for the trade in pulses between Canada, the world's largest
pulse-exporting country, and India, the world's largest pulse con‐
sumer, would really be a major win for Canadian farm businesses
and the entire pulse value chain in Canada.

We've also found, through our continued engagement with India
stakeholders, that an EPTA that includes strong provisions regard‐
ing the trade in pulses would also be a win for India in ensuring the
availability of pulses in an environment of increasing consumption.
The minister will know that the projected demand for pulses in In‐
dia is expected to rise to around 39 million tonnes by 2050, from
the current demand of around 23 million tonnes. This presents an
important opportunity for the Canadian pulse sector, which has
been India's largest and most reliable pulse supplier.

It's really about how we can support their food security needs
moving forward, and what type of predictable and transparent
framework we can put in place to do so.

Mr. Arif Virani: Thank you, Mr. Ross.

I want to turn my focus to you, Mr. Nankivell, with respect to
what you were talking about on the Asia Pacific Foundation. I
found you very much in the weeds in terms of details, but I actually
thoroughly enjoyed it.

In November of last year, the Prime Minister was actually on the
ground at ASEAN. There was a public announcement about the

agreement between ASEAN and Canada to change Canada's status
and move toward elevating Canada's status to that of a strategic
partner. You know—you noted it in your comments—that we are
working towards a free trade deal with ASEAN.

Can you tell us about what that kind of announcement last
November means in terms of elevating Canada to strategic partner
status? How does that help the process of getting an FTA conclud‐
ed?

It's over to you, Mr. Nankivell.

Mr. Jeff Nankivell: Thanks.

In short, I would say it's of political significance in the signal it
sends to the 10 member countries of ASEAN, as well as the secre‐
tariat of ASEAN, about the importance of the relationship with
Canada. I think it is giving momentum and energy to the trade
agreement negotiations with ASEAN.

That said, the biggest challenge about negotiating a trade agree‐
ment with a 10-country grouping is the different levels of develop‐
ment among the countries. You have members of ASEAN, includ‐
ing Cambodia, Laos, Myanmar and Vietnam, at lower levels of de‐
velopment, and you have countries like Singapore and Malaysia at
the high end, so I wouldn't underestimate the challenges in getting
across the finish line on that, but there's definitely a new energy.

Also, the announcements that came out of the Indo-Pacific strate‐
gy rollout by the government have been noted by our interlocutors,
our counterparts in Southeast Asia, by leaders in those govern‐
ments, and I can tell you, having been in the region a few times
since November, there's keen anticipation about a sustained
stepped-up Canadian engagement in the region. Leaders in those
countries are looking forward to seeing the signs of that—both the
beefing up of diplomatic missions, as has already been mentioned;
and the establishment of a strengthened regional hub for Agricul‐
ture and Agri-Food Canada, including CFIA personnel in the re‐
gion.

All of those things, as we start to see more Canadians on the
ground in the region, will help to build the kinds of relationships
you need to get these agreements across the line.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We'll go on to Monsieur Savard-Tremblay for six minutes,
please.

[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay (Saint-Hyacinthe—
Bagot, BQ): Thank you, Madam Chair.

Greetings to all of the witnesses. Thank you for your presenta‐
tions today.

First I want to pick up on the question that my colleague Mr. Vi‐
rani asked Mr. Ross. He asked about the market diversification bu‐
reau that would be based in the Indo-Pacific region.
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Mr. Ross, you appeared before the committee last June when we
were doing a study on that topic. If an office of that type works in
the Indo-Pacific region, then it could very well work elsewhere. It
would have to be determined whether the model can be easily
transferred or whether it's more tailored to the unique reality of the
Indo-Pacific. You spoke about the requirements in Pakistan, and
Vietnam's requirements regarding seed and import bans.

I must admit I'm surprised that the diplomatic corps was not able
to monitor the situation on the ground and give you a heads-up.

Why is this office, which would be separate from embassies and
consulates, necessary?
● (1150)

[English]
Mr. Mac Ross: Thank you for the question.

I think I'd start off by saying that we do rely on our trade com‐
missioner service, and they do a very commendable and great job in
a lot of our key markets, but oftentimes they have many issues to
deal with, many priorities, and don't have the ability to focus direct‐
ly on the agri-food trade issues that we experience and are experi‐
encing increasingly in markets around the world. Specifically when
it comes to SPS-related issues, we know that competitors such as
the U.S. have a much more extensive network of diplomats and for‐
eign officials working on these matters for them.

For us, it was really about how we can be efficient in a region
that's very important for the ag sector broadly in the Indo-Pacific
and have dedicated resources to address these issues. To your point
about this model working elsewhere, I think that's a great point,
yes. I think that's something we would like to see in other markets
of key importance: having more of a sustained and long-term pres‐
ence in the region and a specific focus on regulatory and technical
capacity building as we see more of these non-tariff trade barriers
in the area of SPS-related issues.

[Translation]
Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: You spoke a great deal

about this office, saying that it was a source of information. In other
words, you would be informed before shipments arrived at their in‐
tended destination and before they were returned to the sender. Be‐
sides providing you information, the office helps you how? What is
going to be done once these new policies are deployed and under‐
stood?

[English]
Mr. Mac Ross: If you're referring to the technical capacity-

building efforts I noted, I think these can take place through a num‐
ber of ways, whether it's visits to production sites, labs, research
stations, engaging with eminent academics and their institutions,
market studies, etc. However, all programs embedded in trade facil‐
itation and development assistance we would see as very advanta‐
geous for addressing these barriers.

[Translation]
Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Thank you, Mr. Ross.

My next question is for Mr. Laird.

Investor-state dispute settlement mechanisms are included in the
CPTPP, as they are in most other agreements. An exception is
CUSMA, from which the famous chapter 11 of NAFTA was re‐
moved. This opens the door for foreign investors to bring legal ac‐
tion against a country that is promoting a public policy. The United
Kingdom expressed its concerns in a report by the standing com‐
mittee on international trade in London.

The report places the blame on policies aimed at increasing the
minimum wage, ensuring affordable water rights for citizens and
phasing out of fossil fuels. That is to say that even if these provi‐
sions could, in theory, make it possible to break through certain il‐
legitimate non-tariff barriers, they would also somewhat censor
democratic debate and political decision-making.

What mechanisms do you recommend to strike a balance be‐
tween the healthy harmonization of public policies and respect of
the right to legislate?

[English]

Mr. Ian Laird: I thank the member for the question.

That's a very key question. It goes to the balance of these types
of investment protections, balancing the protection of the investor
in the foreign state with the right to regulate, as you say, which is
absolutely key.

I think you can look at an agreement like the CPTPP and see that
there have been great efforts to try to address that balance. From an
academic and practitioner point of view, the States' position is cer‐
tainly well represented to make sure that the right to regulate is
considered. As an individual who has been counsel in these types of
cases of international arbitrations and an arbitrator, I believe there
is a balance and that tribunals are certainly taking well into consid‐
eration the government issues.

In terms of the types of provisions, it really goes to the types of
substantive standards, which I think you can see have well taken
care of that issue of the right to regulate.

● (1155)

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We'll go on to Mr. Cannings for up to six minutes, please.

Mr. Richard Cannings (South Okanagan—West Kootenay,
NDP): Thank you.

I'll continue with Mr. Laird on that topic.
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It seems that there's a trend recently with some of the free trade
agreements around the world for these investor-state dispute mech‐
anisms to be pulled out of agreements, especially where you have
countries that seem to have a mature and robust judicial system and
investors can use the courts. For instance, although the investor-
state mechanism is enshrined in CPTPP, I heard recently that Aus‐
tralia and the U.K. signed a side letter agreement to remove it, in a
bilateral way, when the U.K. accesses to that agreement. It's also
come out of CUSMA.

I'm wondering whether you can comment on that trend.

As Monsieur Savard-Tremblay mentioned, there is this opposite
effect, where it really does hamper what local governments, provin‐
cial governments and federal governments here can do in terms of
new legislation around labour practices, environmental issues, etc.

Mr. Ian Laird: I thank the member for that question.

Falling on your last point, the idea there may be some regulatory
chill.... From an academic point of view, that has been well studied.
There certainly is no definitive conclusion that this is the case. If
you look at the specific case law in terms of pure winners and
losers, certainly, investors have not had particular success under
these treaties. In fact, they received, when they were successful,
fractions of what they claimed. Governments routinely win these
cases. From the stats, it's hard to say this is something that has been
undermining governments' right to regulate.

That being said—and this is WTO and all of international law—
it is like all law. It puts limits on government and addresses very
fundamental rights, such as not being discriminated against, being
treated fairly and equitably, and being compensated for expropria‐
tion. These are very basic standards that have developed in interna‐
tional economic law in the last 100 years. It shouldn't be something
the Canadian government and governments are afraid of.

Mr. Richard Cannings: You were concentrating on mining in
your remarks. Coincidentally, I had a meeting with the CEO of
Teck Resources in my office last week here in Ottawa for another
reason, as you can imagine. We were talking about their operations
in Chile, for instance. I was just down in Chile recently on a parlia‐
mentary visit. He brought up the fact that Teck chose to act in Chile
the way it acts in Canada. I don't think that is the case for many
Canadian mining companies. They have managed to sign impact-
benefit agreements with communities and develop very large
projects with absolutely no controversy at all.

However, it seems Canada has trouble—a bad reputation, in
many cases—when it does not do that and when companies take
advantage of countries without the capacity to regulate.
● (1200)

Mr. Ian Laird: You're addressing a very key issue of these types
of protections. They protect the investors, but it also gives a chance
for respondent states to bring up these types of issues.

In fact, these cases show both sides of what's going on. That kind
of transparency in bringing out those issues is very important be‐
cause we should certainly hold Canadian miners and extractive in‐
dustry folks abroad to Canadian standards. That's what these
treaties seek to do as well.

Mr. Richard Cannings: I'll continue down that road because
this is of particular interest to me.

In terms of dealing with Canada's operations in other countries....
As you mentioned, we have an oversized influence in the mining
sector because most of the mining companies are based in Canada.
That's where we see some of our impact abroad.

We have a commissioner for responsible enterprise in Canada,
who was before this committee earlier. She was essentially getting
no complaints from Latin America or Africa, for instance, because
the community groups that had issues with Canadian mining com‐
panies felt the office had no power. It has no power to call testimo‐
ny from witnesses or to call documents, so those groups were going
to the United Nations and taking other routes.

Again, this is a side issue, perhaps. It's peripheral to the issue of
non-tariff barriers, but I think it plays into why some of these coun‐
tries may take actions against Canadian investors.

I'm wondering whether you could comment on that office. If we
had it strengthened, we would have fewer disputes abroad.

Mr. Ian Laird: The commissioner issue is certainly one that's
very important. I would put it a little outside my topic of discus‐
sion, but it goes to the overall point that.... When Canadian compa‐
nies are involved in these foreign jurisdictions and investing sub‐
stantial amounts of money, if there are going to be disputes, they
should be balanced.

I believe the Canadian treaties that address these issues make
great strides in seeking to achieve that balance.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We now go to Mr. Martel for five minutes, please.

[Translation]

Mr. Richard Martel (Chicoutimi—Le Fjord, CPC): Thank
you, Madam Chair.

I thank the witnesses for being with us today.

Mr. Laird, you mentioned that Canada needs to step up its trade
agreement efforts because it has fallen behind. I find that rather
worrying.

Can we catch up, or have we fallen too far behind?

[English]

Mr. Ian Laird: Thanks to the member for asking that question.
It was addressed indirectly earlier.
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I have to give credit where credit is due. The efforts with regard
to CPTPP and ASEAN certainly have been significant. When we
look at the USMCA, or CUSMA as we call it in Canada, that was
really about assuring continued rights and, in fact, I see it again as
retrograde that our largest source of international investment has
been eliminated from a dispute resolution point of view. However,
in terms of those other areas, if we look to investment, say, in South
America and Africa, there are still significant jurisdictions that have
not been covered by free trade agreements or FIPAs.

I think that was more my commentary: that there is still signifi‐
cant work on that front and there are numerous agreements that
have been negotiated but not signed and numerous states in which
negotiations have started but are not completed. That is just on the
record if you go to the Global Affairs website. There is clearly a lot
more work to do.
● (1205)

[Translation]
Mr. Richard Martel: I have another question for you.

I would like to discuss the Softwood Lumber Agreement be‐
tween Canada and the United States, which has been in place since
2006. There doesn't seem to be a light at the end of the tunnel. We
all know that many softwood lumber disputes between Canada and
the U.S. have been brought before the WTO, the World Trade Or‐
ganization. Minister Ng announced that she would challenge the
United States' tariffs on softwood lumber under chapter 10 of the
Canada-United States-Mexico Agreement, or CUSMA.

I would like to know what is happening with all of these soft‐
wood lumber disputes at the WTO. How have they not been able to
reach an agreement after all these years?

[English]
Mr. Ian Laird: The WTO situation really goes to the difficulty

in appointing new members to the dispute resolution body, so it has
just become virtually impossible to bring disputes through the
WTO mechanism, which is certainly a real shame because, in years
past, it was a very useful venue for these disputes.

In terms of the options of Minister Ng, the USMCA still has a
state-to-state dispute resolution mechanism. That's certainly open to
Canada, and I suspect that's what she was talking about. That's still
a pretty robust mechanism, and if Canada sought to use it, I think
that would be the route to go.

[Translation]
Mr. Richard Martel: My next question is for Mr. Kingston.

As you know, there is much talk of reciprocity of standards in
trade agreements. We have found that reciprocity is not always fair
in various sectors.

What sectors do you feel we could look at that put us at a disad‐
vantage here in Canada?

[English]
Mr. Brian Kingston: Thank you, Mr. Martel. That's an excellent

question.

Reciprocity, particularly in manufacturing and automotive, is re‐
ally important. As I noted, most of our manufacturing and produc‐
tion goes to the United States. That said, we do have opportunities
to export to other markets. If you look at both Japan and Korea,
there are long-standing non-tariff barriers that have been in place
that weren't fully addressed in our trade agreements and provide se‐
rious barriers to manufacturers that look to export from North
America into those markets. There are many examples such as cer‐
tification requirements and spectrum allocation—all sorts of tools
to stifle imports from other markets.

It's really important that our trade deals have reciprocity built in
and, if it's not achieved, then we need dispute settlement mecha‐
nisms to take on those barriers.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Go ahead, Mr. Arya, please, for five minutes.

Mr. Chandra Arya (Nepean, Lib.): Thank you, Madam Chair.

I would like to ask a question to Mr. Laird.

Mr. Laird, I'm glad you brought up the significance of mining
companies in Canada. Many of us tend to forget the enormous con‐
tribution that mining companies have made and continue to make in
the Canadian economy and the prosperity that we enjoy today. Min‐
ing companies have a significant role in that.

You rightly highlighted the non-tariff barriers coming up in dif‐
ferent places. For example, in Tanzania they have implemented the
export ban of gold and copper concentrates. In the Democratic Re‐
public of Congo, I believe the second-largest cobalt mine has been
shut down due to the demand of the government that there be local
processing. It's the same in Tanzania, which has stopped the export
of copper concentrates, again insisting on domestic processing. In‐
donesia is banning the export of raw nickel and also imposing some
export taxes. Tanzania, again, is also insisting on mandatory gov‐
ernment inspection and special requirements for exports

The other day I was listening to the United States national securi‐
ty adviser, Jake Sullivan, talking about the international economic
agenda. I could sense the movement from multilateral agreements
to economic partnership agreements with selected countries. That
seems to be the key.

With respect to Africa, we don't have free trade agreements there
with the countries I just mentioned, so that, I believe, will increase
the complexities faced by Canadian mining companies. Can you
comment on that, please?

● (1210)

Mr. Ian Laird: Thank you for that question, Member Arya.

I think you've raised a very good point with regard to the need
for further negotiation, in general, in Africa with a number of juris‐
dictions.
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In looking at foreign direct investment, we see that six of the top
10 recipients of Canadian foreign direct investment—and a good
proportion of that relates to mining—don't have a free trade agree‐
ment or a FIPA. I would agree that we should very much be target‐
ing those countries. If we're going to provide international protec‐
tions and remedies, it's absolutely essential that the minister give
some attention to those negotiations. I totally agree with what the
member has said.

Mr. Chandra Arya: Madam Chair, I have a question for Jeff
Nankivell.

Mr. Nankivell, Prime Minister Trudeau is going to South Korea
and Japan in the near future. What are the two top issues in non-
tariff barriers that you'd like the Prime Minister to raise with his
counterparts when he visits there?

Mr. Jeff Nankivell: That's a good question, and I think there are
others on the panel representing, for instance, the beef industry or
the pulses industry, who would have views on that.

I think these are very promising markets for Canadian agricultur‐
al exports, and there is more work to be done in reducing NTBs in
the area of agricultural exports. That's one area.

I would say the other is auto parts and automobiles, and I think
the committee has heard about this at some length now. The indus‐
try in Canada, I know, has expressed frustration about the lack of
access in the auto sector to those two countries, and there's a lot of
potential to grow the two-way trade in the auto sector in those two
countries.

Mr. Chandra Arya: Okay, I just have a quick question to Pulse
Canada.

Mr. Ross, it is possible that I may meet the Indian commerce and
trade minister this evening. What is one thing I should ask him re‐
garding pulse exports to India?

Mr. Mac Ross: I think I've already touched on the issues with
their pea import policy, which has effectively banned us out of the
market, but I think another thing that I'll add is just around the im‐
plementation of sanitary and phytosanitary import requirements.

While we know it's necessary for protecting human and plant
health, it can really increase the cost of agricultural goods and have
a significant impact on the price paid by the consumer in India. I
think one of the things that could be raised is how Canada and India
can work towards ensuring that SPS measures are science- and risk-
based and do not impede the trade in food between our countries,
because we do have outstanding SPS issues with India that we'd
like to see addressed through the EPTA.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Mr. Savard-Tremblay, you have two and a half minutes, please.
[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Mr. Laird, once again
with respect to this legislated right, we know that negotiations are
under way with India and Association of Southeast Asian Nations,
or ASEAN, countries to reach two separate trade agreements. How‐
ever, as we know, the human rights record in those parts of the
world is worrisome to say the least. Amnesty International has doc‐
umented it. We know that environmental rights are being violated.

Take palm oil, for example, and a great deal of other such products
that are harvested in quite appalling conditions.

Let's say we pass environmental legislation on where certain
products come from and under what conditions they are produced.
What would we do if we were accused of having non-tariff barriers
ourselves and then we accused other countries around the world of
the same thing, and they told us we had put up barriers out of re‐
spect for human rights or the environment? How could we achieve
that reciprocity?

● (1215)

[English]

Mr. Ian Laird: I think the member raises a fundamental princi‐
ple in international agreements, which is that there should be reci‐
procity. If Canadians have treaties abroad to protect and promote
investment, for instance, as I've discussed, then that should be re‐
ciprocated. We should look for that in our treaties.

If the Canadian government is engaged in non-tariff barrier activ‐
ity that is limiting that investment or that trade, I would expect the
dispute resolution processes would work for those foreign investors
in Canada.

[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Does that mean, then,
that we should refrain from legislating on reciprocity? When it
comes to respecting human rights and environmental measures,
we're not on an equal footing with India and the ASEAN countries,
for example.

[English]

Mr. Ian Laird: Yes.

Unfortunately, there can be a disparate nature in terms of the ba‐
sic footings. You'd hope that, if it comes to a dispute, tribunals
would be sufficiently educated to be able to deal with those dispari‐
ties and address them fully.

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Cannings, you have two and a half minutes, please.

Mr. Richard Cannings: Thank you.

I will turn to Ms. Tranberg, at least to start.

I believe it was Mr. Lowe who brought up the issue around the
unfair way that China has been treating Canadian beef exports
around BSE. I took it that Brazil has a similar status as Canada, but
China has reinstated them.
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Is that the kind of thing we need? Some of these non-tariff barri‐
ers seem to be intractable, but in this case we have a situation
where perhaps we could have a clause in our agreements, whether
they're FIPAs or FTAs, that says there has to be equal or similar
ways of treating countries that have similar issues.

I'm not sure if that was a clear question, but perhaps you could
touch on that.

Ms. Janice Tranberg: If we could get to a point where we could
put a clause like that in, I think that goes to the issue of reciprocity,
but I'm not sure that it would work.

In this particular case, atypical BSE is a disease that happens to
cattle later on in their lives. It's completely natural. This is not the
BSE that would shut down the border. When you have an atypical
BSE case, as long as we can prove that everything is working and
we've identified it as we should, then we should be able to move
forward quickly.

When this happened to Canada, other countries around the world
took their time, did their quick analysis and then shortly afterwards
opened markets back up for us. That's indeed what happened to
Brazil. They had an atypical case in February and by March mar‐
kets had already opened back up. Our atypical case was in 2021
and we still don't have access to China with beef products.

Truly, we've been informed that this is more of a political issue
than even a trade barrier. They're using this as an excuse to create a
trade barrier.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

I'm sorry. The time is up.

Mr. Carrie, go ahead, please.
Mr. Colin Carrie (Oshawa, CPC): Thank you, Madam Chair.

Mr. Kingston, I'll start with you.

For young people I talk to, one of their dreams is to own a home,
and it seems to be getting further and further out of reach. Today I
was listening to the radio, and in the U.S., the average cost of a new
car is $48,000, which is $750 per month for a payment. A lot of this
seems to be out of control. People don't know how they're going to
afford things.

Let's look at the ZEV mandate of this government. They set a
policy, but they don't consult properly. They expect everybody else
to pay for it, and we could talk about the provinces and the charg‐
ing infrastructure, the grid. There seems to be no flexibility. Every‐
body gets criticized if they don't do it their way.

My concern is what Mr. Seeback started with, the coupling of
these regulations and the costs that are set at the feet of Canadians.
Could you go over, just for the committee's knowledge...? If I'm an
auto investor and I want to sell cars here, how many different regu‐
latory systems do auto manufacturers have to face if they want to
invest or sell in Canada? That's the first question.

With all the decoupling of regulations, what does it do to the cost
of cars? For example, a young person wants to buy a traditional car
versus an electric car. What is it doing to the costs for investors and
for individual consumers?

● (1220)

Mr. Brian Kingston: To answer your first question in terms of
the number of regulations that automakers deal with, it is a highly
complicated regulatory environment. It's a miracle that vehicles roll
off the line as quickly as they do when you look at a plant and you
consider all of the layers of regulation, and it's not just emissions
standards. Vehicle safety is absolutely critical. There are privacy
and cyber concerns, and the list goes on and on, hence the reason
it's so important to have an aligned and coherent regulatory envi‐
ronment to make sure that production and Canada's competitive‐
ness are maintained.

When it comes to the ZEV mandate, it has potential to drive sig‐
nificant costs, not just from a regulatory environment perspective
but also from a Canadian consumer perspective. The current price
gap between an electric vehicle and a gas-powered vehicle is
about $14,000 Canadian. That gap will close over time because
manufacturers are investing so much, but we have other challenges
on the supply side as demand increases. The current estimate is that
we need 300 new mines globally for nickel, cobalt, lithium and
graphite between now and 2035 to meet EV assembly targets—300
mines. I don't see a scenario where those 300 mines are operational
within the timelines the government has projected.

What's the impact? The regulation proposed by Environment
Canada says very specifically that low-income Canadians will dis‐
proportionately be affected by this. They will face higher costs for
both gas-powered and EV vehicles and will have the hardest time
charging their vehicles, because low-income Canadians in a higher
proportion live in apartments and multi-unit residential buildings,
where charging is very difficult to access.

These are real challenges that need to be addressed, and the cur‐
rent approach does not address them.

Mr. Colin Carrie: Thank you very much.

In the theme of the government's bringing in legislation without
really consulting recently, I'd like to talk to Mr. Lowe with the Na‐
tional Cattle Feeders' Association.

You're probably aware of Bill C-282 and the criticism that there
wasn't enough consultation. I was wondering if you could comment
on this bill being a potential trade barrier.

Also please elaborate a little bit. You mentioned the veterinarian
situation between Canada and the U.S. You'd think that we'd be
able to get that one figured out. Could you let us know the status of
this dispute between Canadian and U.S. veterinarians and what it
means for the market here for Canadians and the costs?
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Mr. Will Lowe: In regard to veterinarians, I think a lot of this
stuff goes back to some of the issues we had with COVID and with
border issues at some of our ports. It has become a labour issue on
the veterinary side. It's to no one's surprise that veterinarians here in
western Canada and across the country are harder and harder to....
We're putting fewer graduates through college, and we're seeing
older veterinarians in Canada retire. I'm thinking that the situation
is similar in the U.S.

For a time, we had BSE issues. That was from 2003 until now,
with the negligible risk status change that happened last year. That
was 20 years in the making from our first BSE case. That issue is
very slowly rectifying itself.

On Bill C-282, we see it as an impediment. It just throws up an‐
other irritant to the U.S. It's protecting one industry at the expense
of other industries. We see protecting supply management as one of
those things that becomes a trade irritant, especially when we're
looking at the potential for another country of origin labelling pro‐
tectionism non-tariff trade barrier in the United States.

We're asking the United States to not implement country of ori‐
gin labelling. We've gone through this numerous times in the last 20
years. Canadians have always won those cases, but then we go and
introduce Bill C-282, which protects one industry over another. We
highlight an issue but the U.S. can say, “We're looking at country of
origin labelling, but you're protecting your industries as well.”
● (1225)

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Lowe.

We'll go on to Mr. Miao for five minutes, please.
Mr. Wilson Miao (Richmond Centre, Lib.): Thank you,

Madam Chair.

Thank you to all the witnesses for being here today. I'd like to go
to Mr. Kingston first.

Has your association pursued any initiative or strategy to identify
or mitigate any NTBs? If you could prioritize the removal of NTBs
in future trade agreements, how would you do that?

Mr. Brian Kingston: Thank you, Mr. Miao. That's a great ques‐
tion.

We do, and we regularly consult with members on any NTBs
they're facing. Again, I've mentioned a couple, but there have been
challenges in the Japanese and Korean markets in particular. While
we do have trade agreements, we do see NTBs when it comes to
auto manufacturers from North America accessing that market.

Another NTB to highlight is on the rules of origin front. Canada
and Mexico recently won a case against the United States and the
USMCA that had to do with auto rules of origin. That was a suc‐
cessful Canadian-led approach to address this, but we've yet to see
the Americans come into line on that. It's important that we negoti‐
ate reciprocity off the top, but we have to have functional dispute
settlement mechanisms with provisions to ensure companies com‐
ply should they lose a case.

Mr. Wilson Miao: Thank you for that.

Next, I would like to go online to Mr. Ross.

How have recent trade deals signed by Canada impacted Canadi‐
an pulse exports? Have you seen NTBs diminish because of deals
such as the CPTPP or CETA?

Mr. Mac Ross: Thanks for the question.

I think there are a couple of things on this one.

For one, the only market in the world where pulses are politically
sensitive and often subject to protectionism is India's. That's why,
in this future agreement—not an agreement that we've negotiated
already—it's going to be extremely important for us to address that.

To your question around agreements that have been signed—
whether it be CETA or CPTPP—I think CPTPP has been important
in reducing duties in some of these markets where we're trying to
diversify away from some of our historical markets—like China
and like India—into new markets. That has been important, but at
the same time, we've still seen NTBs arise. A specific example
would be in Vietnam, where their regulation of wheat seed, without
any apparent technical justification, has hindered our ability to
grow our exports into that market.

I'd say that with CETA, more generally, we do have concerns
around some of the stated policy directions from the EU when it
comes to things like mirror clauses and their regulation of crop pro‐
tection products and how that may—not currently but in the fu‐
ture—present some real non-tariff barriers for Canadian pulses.
More broadly, those agreements are important for us in our diversi‐
fication efforts.

Mr. Wilson Miao: Thank you.

I'll go next to the Asia Pacific Foundation.

Last year you published a paper entitled “A Free Trade Agree‐
ment for Canada and India: Is the Time Finally Right?” Are there
any lessons that Canada can learn from other deals, such as the
ones between Australia and India, when negotiating our own deals?

Mr. Jeff Nankivell: Thanks for the question.

Obviously, it's a difficult market. That's why what we're talking
about is an early progress trade agreement. I think it's significant,
by the way, that this is kind of a new approach for Canadian trade
negotiators to accept less than a full deal, to take less than a full
loaf, when it comes to a trade agreement, where we aim for very
high standards.
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I don't have a recommendation on a specific lesson learned from
the Australians' experience. I think it's important for us to be watch‐
ing these things very closely. Australia would be a closer analogue
to Canada than the U.K., which is also in similar negotiations with
India, because of the nature of our economies.

When you're looking at these things, you also have to look at
what's in the other deal, at what they got and what they conceded,
in the language of trade agreements. I mean, these things should al‐
ways be win-win, but there are concessions and there are things that
you feel you get. We need to really look at what it was the Aus‐
tralians needed to concede and see if we're comfortable with mak‐
ing similar concessions in the Canadian context. While we have
similarities with the Australian economy as a major commodity ex‐
porter, we're not exactly the same, either.
● (1230)

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Mr. Baldinelli, you have five minutes, please.
Mr. Tony Baldinelli (Niagara Falls, CPC): Thank you, Madam

Chair.

I'm going to follow up with two questions to two of our witness‐
es, and I'll go to Mr. Kingston first.

In your comments to one of my colleagues here, you mentioned
the requirement that we would need probably 300 mines—today, I
think you said—to move forward with that goal of trying to get the
2035 EV mandate all in Canada, but here's the concern: It takes 10
to 12 years to build a mine in Canada and get regulatory approvals
just for that.

The IRA down in the United States already has tax credits for
production and the vehicles. They're certain that every year they're
going to be going up, I think beginning next year, in terms of hav‐
ing North American content, 40% to 50% to 60%. Right now we
don't qualify. How is it that we're going to be able to compete and
qualify? My colleague has a production facility. I have an engine
plant, which is just next door to my riding, that employs a thousand
people right there.

How do we compete in that situation?
Mr. Brian Kingston: Thank you.

It's very challenging to compete, particularly with the Inflation
Reduction Act and $370 billion U.S. dedicated to climate change.
A huge portion of it is dedicated to retooling plants, battery produc‐
tion and critical minerals. It's a big challenge.

That said, we do have an advantage in the fact that we have criti‐
cal minerals. To your point, and we've said this many times, this is
a generational opportunity if we seize it. To seize it, we actually
have to improve and speed up our regulatory approval process so
that these mines get built, processing facilities are put in Canada
and we become a global supplier of choice. Our track record on that
front is not fantastic right now.

This is the moment. Companies are making big investment deci‐
sions. If we don't get the environment right, we'll miss the opportu‐
nity.

Mr. Tony Baldinelli: To your point, is it realistic to think that we
could meet that 2035 target?

In Ontario itself, the Ontario electricity system operator says that
to get to a net-zero carbon grid in Ontario, it will cost us $400 bil‐
lion over 25 years. Is that even achievable? That's to take us from
42,000 megawatts to 88,000 megawatts in 25 years. That will be a
daunting task. I think they say that we'll need about six times the
14,000 workers that exist for infrastructure today to simply get
there.

Mr. Brian Kingston: Huge investments need to be made in the
electricity grid, and not just in the grid but also in the generation of
clean electricity, if we're going to hit this target.

I'll give you an example of what Canada is doing compared with
another jurisdiction with a similar target. The federal government
wants about five million EVs on the road by 2030. California has
the same target, yet the federal government's goal for charging in‐
frastructure is half—195,000 chargers compared with 400,000.

These are the types of challenges we have to overcome. We have
a rural population. A third of Canadians live in multi-unit residen‐
tial buildings. We have an aging electricity system that needs to be
massively upgraded—now.

Mr. Tony Baldinelli: Thank you, Mr. Kingston.

If I could go to Mr. Laird, in your comments you mentioned our
investment protections, that the dispute resolutions within free trade
agreements are too defensive; they don't properly support our com‐
panies. For example, you mentioned that protection for foreign in‐
vestment within CUSMA no longer exists, where it did under the
NAFTA.

How key is it for Canada to get that back into a revised CUS‐
MA? Will things such as passing Bill C-282, which protects supply
management, make it more difficult for this to happen because our
trading partners could see this as a trade irritant?

Mr. Ian Laird: If the opportunity did occur to renegotiate CUS‐
MA, I think that would be something that certainly the mining in‐
dustry would be interested in. However, it's probably unlikely that
we'll be seeing that negotiation in the future.

To respond very briefly to that point about the idea that we're
seeing these types of provisions taken out of treaties around the
world, I think Canada ostensibly has a policy under its model FIPA
of having these types of provisions.

My concern is mainly a caution that this does not become a
trend, that the one example of CUSMA doesn't continue on in fu‐
ture negotiations. We seem to be addressing investment issues in
treaties like CPTPP and other agreements, so I'm optimistic that we
won't take the CUSMA route in the future.



16 CIIT-63 May 8, 2023

● (1235)

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Baldinelli.

Ms. Dhillon, please, you have five minutes.
Ms. Anju Dhillon (Dorval—Lachine—LaSalle, Lib.): Thank

you, Madam Chair.

I'll start with Pulse Canada.

Pulse Canada does a lot of work to ensure both a green industry
and a sustainable industry. Can you talk to us about some of these
efforts? Have these efforts resulted in increased demand or the re‐
moval of non-tariff trade barriers?

Mr. Mac Ross: Sure. Thank you for the question.

At a high level, thanks to the work of Canadian growers and the
entire value chain, our pulse industry is an environmental success
story. Pulses, when grown as part of an agronomically responsible
rotation, lower Canada's environmental footprint. We have a recent
study that benchmarks that.

That is part of the discussions that we're having with our trading
partners to increase demand. We've seen that yield some results in
the EU and here in North America.

We're also trying to have these discussions with a market like In‐
dia, which, as you know, right now is hosting the G20 presidency.
Their slogan is “One Earth...One Future”. Not only do pulses play a
role in ensuring nutritional security in food-deficit countries like In‐
dia, but also in ensuring that food systems are sustainable. We feel
that it could be a good fit for their sustainability and environmental
objectives as well.

Ms. Anju Dhillon: Thank you for that.

I have a follow-up question as well. Have non-tariff trade barri‐
ers prevented or held back Pulse Canada's efforts in creating a
green and sustainable industry?

Mr. Mac Ross: I'd say, at this point in time, no.

However, I do think there's definitely potential in the future for
the nexus of trade and climate to create more opportunity for non-
tariff trade barriers. Specifically, when we look at a market like the
EU, mirror clauses, for example, the signals that they want to begin
applying EU health and environmental standards to imported prod‐
uct, could be troublesome moving forward. It is also likely against
the spirit of the WTO and its free trade principle of non-discrimina‐
tion in which countries cannot normally discriminate among their
trading partners.

As Canada is involved and, in some cases, is leading reform ef‐
forts in institutions like the WTO—an effort that the EU is also in‐
volved in—we need to ensure that, while it's important to address
climate change in the new era of trade policy, that the goalposts of
this important framework aren't moved in a way that allows coun‐
tries to unnecessarily restrict trade in the name of environmental
stewardship.

Ms. Anju Dhillon: I have a third question for you, but also for
the Asia Pacific Foundation and the National Cattle Feeders' Asso‐
ciation.

What do you hope Canada's Indo-Pacific strategy will accom‐
plish in terms of eliminating non-tariff trade barriers?

These are questions for everybody on the panel. Thank you.

Mr. Mac Ross: I will just quickly note that the inclusion of an
Indo-Pacific agriculture and agri-food office in the region is going
to be extremely important in creating, as I touched on before, this
long-term and sustained presence in the region to proactively ad‐
dress some of these irritants we face.

I'll let others comment, as well.

Mr. Jeff Nankivell: I will follow up on that. One of the things
we haven't talked about yet is how we can address challenges posed
by non-tariff barriers. For every Canadian export there is an im‐
porter. There are importing interests in all of these countries,
whether they're distributors, retailers, consumers who benefit or
businesses that need our products and services as inputs. One way
to get better outcomes for Canada is to build relationships with
those interest groups, those stakeholders within these countries with
whom we trade.

A really important aspect of the Indo-Pacific strategy is going to
be the reinforcement of the Canadian diplomatic, trade and com‐
mercial presence in the region. That's going to help, as was just not‐
ed, in the area of agriculture and agri-food, for instance. It's going
to help to build those relationships with industry groups and others
who can be allies in addressing non-tariff barriers where they are
actually hurting the interests of people in those countries.

That's a really important pathway that the Indo-Pacific strategy
promises resources to address.

● (1240)

The Chair: Thank you.

I see Ms. Tranberg has her hand up.

Would you like to give a brief answer to that question as well?

Ms. Janice Tranberg: Yes, and I'll make it brief.

It was well said already. The only thing I wanted to add was that
we have great potential to export beef into our Asia-Pacific coun‐
tries. Japan, in particular, really likes Canadian beef. As we men‐
tioned earlier with the U.S. being 70% of our exports, we're looking
to diversify. Having an office in the Asia-Pacific is going to make a
big difference in helping us to reach those goals of diversifying.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We're going to go to Monsieur Savard-Tremblay for two and a
half minutes.

[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: My question is for the
representatives of the National Cattle Feeders' Association.
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Last week, witnesses from the Canadian Cattlemen's Association
told us they were disappointed that the United Kingdom is entering
into the Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans‑Pa‐
cific Partnership.

I imagine you share their disappointment and their concerns for
the future.
[English]

Ms. Janice Tranberg: If it's okay, I'll start and then you can add
to this. Yes, we do. When the U.K. separated from Europe, it
agreed to take the CETA with them. In essence, the way we wash
and disinfect our cattle is a scientifically proven process that is
completely safe. It has been used and accepted globally. Europe has
not accepted it, and basically that has really shut us out of the mar‐
ket.

By the numbers I cited, Europe and the U.K. have taken advan‐
tage of the tariff rate quotas and have been able to export into
Canada, but we are essentially being shut out of being able to ac‐
cess our tariff rate quotas into the U.K. This was not addressed in
the U.K. CPTPP agreement.

With that, maybe Will may want to add.
Mr. Will Lowe: We've had trade irritants before with Europe.

Previous to this issue, it was on growth promotants and implants in
our cattle. This particular one, on carcass wash and using a lactic
acid bath, is a pretty standard procedure here in Canada and the
U.S. It's a procedure that is recognized around the world.

The problem with that is that plants would have to spend more
money on capital equipment to use a different wash system. They're
just weighing the cost benefit of spending that kind of extra money
on a market that we're not sure whether we're in or out of.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

You have 30 seconds remaining.
[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: I thought you were sig‐
nalling me that my time was up.
[English]

The Chair: You have 30 seconds if you want to use it.
[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: I have no more questions.
I will simply thank witnesses for their answers. It was quite inter‐
esting.

They are right, except when they condemn Bill C‑282. Every‐
thing else was quite relevant.
[English]

The Chair: Okay. Thank you very much.

Mr. Cannings, go ahead for two and a half minutes, please.
● (1245)

Mr. Richard Cannings: Thank you.

I'm going to turn to Mr. Laird again.

We have heard a lot about difficulties with the WTO recently. I
know Canada began some sort of effort in terms of modernizing or
fixing the WTO. I haven't heard much recently on that.

I'm wondering whether you could perhaps take some time to out‐
line where you would like to see the WTO go that would benefit
Canada and the rest of the world.

Mr. Ian Laird: Thanks very much for the question.

The real problem is centred on the United States' refusal to ap‐
point members of the appeals panel. Frankly, whatever efforts we
can make to help sway the U.S. to move away from that.... Canada
has been leading on this and looking for other mechanisms, means
and alternate dispute resolution methods. That's certainly a way to
go at this. It's an option for Canada and I credit it for making those
efforts.

Ultimately, I think it's about making the system itself work.
That's a bigger issue that will require a lot more international co-
operation.

Mr. Richard Cannings: Quickly, in the time I have left—and
this is a very big question—what kinds of things could you envi‐
sion for tackling some of these non-tariff barriers, especially around
technical regulatory issues? We just heard about the BSE situation.

How do we get at those very difficult problems?

Mr. Ian Laird: This is something for everyone, I think. That's
the big question.

I think it's the work of our negotiators. This allows me to raise
the point that this is an excellent exercise involving the trade asso‐
ciations and individuals. When we're involved in these negotia‐
tions, drawing on the experience of the types of people we have in
this room is absolutely critical to identifying those issues. I would
put out this challenge to the negotiators and the department: They
need to engage much better with Canadian industry when negotiat‐
ing, so they're aware of the exact issues at stake.

Mr. Richard Cannings: Thank you. I'll stop there.

The Chair: We'll move on to Mr. Seeback for five minutes.

Mr. Kyle Seeback: Thank you, Madam Chair.

I want to talk to the National Cattle Feeders' Association, partic‐
ularly with respect to the sanitary and phytosanitary issues sur‐
rounding carcass wash with both the U.K. and the EU.

Would you consider this to be a non-tariff barrier because the
standard here is internationally accepted? Why hasn't this been re‐
solved? There are dispute resolution procedures within CETA. Is it
that those dispute resolution mechanisms aren't robust enough, or is
there a lack of political will to get it done?

Ms. Janice Tranberg: Again, I can start on this.
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You're asking the $100-million question, because it is a trade bar‐
rier. It's not as if it hasn't been brought up multiple times. From
what we understand, the EU is saying it doesn't meet their technical
standards, so they are unwilling to move. We've had meetings with
Global Affairs Canada and Minister Ng's office. I think they under‐
stand the issue. It has been brought up multiple times, but it appears
the EU is not willing to move on this.

Certainly, at this point in time, we consider it a non-tariff trade
barrier.

Mr. Kyle Seeback: How long has that been going on? How
many years has it been now?

Ms. Janice Tranberg: I'm not sure.

Will, do you know the answer? It's certainly more than six years.
Mr. Will Lowe: Yes, I would say it's in that range.

As I said, it's a matter of spending more capital in these plants.
We have plants here that will do it. They have done it as a niche
market. They have spent the money on the capital outlay to put
those different washes in. I think it's a steam bath more than a lactic
acid.... The data actually supports our current system—our lactic
acid washes—as being more effective than the steam baths.
● (1250)

Mr. Kyle Seeback: Do you know whether, in the U.S., they use
a lactic acid wash and they are able to export beef into the EU?

Ms. Janice Tranberg: As far as I know, yes, that is correct, and
to Will's answer, if we don't have the market to be able to use this
alternative system, it means the plant has to shut down for a day
and implement a completely different system. We need that market,
and right now the market's not consistent because of this barrier. If
we could get past this, we might be able to build that market.

Mr. Kyle Seeback: You said yes. Did you mean, yes, the U.S.
uses the same carcass wash you do or, yes, the U.S. can export into
the EU despite using the same system we do?

Ms. Janice Tranberg: Go ahead, Will.
Mr. Will Lowe: I'm just going to say it depends on the system.

You have to have two lines to these plants, one for the regular lactic
acid—

Mr. Kyle Seeback: Using the acid wash that you use, can the
U.S. export? I'm trying to see if this non-tariff barrier is being ap‐
plied consistently to both Canada and the United States, or is it be‐
ing applied to just Canada?

Ms. Janice Tranberg: I am going to check to make sure I have
the appropriate answer and get back to you, but my understanding
is that, yes, they can use the lactic acid wash that Canada is not al‐
lowed to use. I will confirm that to be 100% certain.

Mr. Kyle Seeback: Thank you very much.

I want to quickly switch gears to talk about the country-of-origin
labelling that's percolating in the United States. We know that these
are draft regulations and that they are voluntary, but it's a signifi‐
cant issue, I think, for Canadian beef.

Do you think that the passage of Bill C-282, which, I take it, will
not be well received in the United States, will make this non-tariff
trade barrier more difficult to resolve with the United States?

Ms. Janice Tranberg: You're asking a crystal-ball question, so
I'll give you a crystal-ball answer.

Obviously they're going to know before coming to the trade table
that this is non-negotiable, so it's kind of like we're showing our
hand before we even go into trade negotiations. I think they will ab‐
solutely use that in their negotiations as well, whether they want
that or not, which we know in the U.S. they do. Even if other coun‐
tries, which maybe don't even want access to our supply-managed
goods, know that those are not on the table, then that's something
they're going to be using when they come to negotiations with
Canada.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We go now to Mr. Virani for five minutes. Go ahead, please.

Mr. Arif Virani: Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

To the folks from the cattle feeders' association, let me just echo
what Mr. Seeback was asking you.

Ms. Tranberg, definitely, could you drill down and verify that
point for us with respect to the similarities between the carcass
treatment in Canada and in the United States and the potential dis‐
similarities in EU reception?

Also, let me ask you another question. We heard at the very out‐
set about irritating non-tariff trade barriers but also about some that
might be in a more legitimate or good-faith vein. I've heard a lot in
my work with Minister Ng about Indonesia's requirements for halal
beef, and this is obviously a question that would arise with Pakistan
as well.

Tell me how your industry is addressing requirements that are re‐
ligiously oriented for some of the very populous and economically
large potential trading nations in Asia. How can we assist you in
handling those concerns as well, specifically with respect to halal
beef?

This is for Ms. Tranberg.

Ms. Janice Tranberg: I'm going to have to get back to you on
that as well. I know that, with respect to the halal beef, they're now
starting to look for additional requirements from the CFIA. The
CFIA, I think, doesn't necessarily have the processes in place to in‐
spect and to ensure something is halal, so that is a question we're
working on right now. That's why I don't have a definitive answer
for you, but I will definitely get back to you on that.

Mr. Arif Virani: Thank you very much.
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Can you tell me a little bit about going to the other side of the
world? We've been talking a lot about Europe in some of the recent
questioning, but with respect to Japan and the advent of the CPTPP,
I understand that the CPTPP has had a positive impact on Canadian
exports of beef to that part of the world. Is that correct from your
perspective, and do you know what the increase has been in terms
of Canadian beef exports getting out to Japan?
● (1255)

Ms. Janice Tranberg: Yes, absolutely, there's been a positive re‐
sult from that, particularly as we've been shut out of the Chinese
market. We're looking to build in other Asian markets, and Japan
has certainly been one of those. Again, I don't have the statistics
right in front of me on how much it has increased, but—I feel like a
broken record; I apologize—I will definitely get back to you on
those numbers.

Mr. Arif Virani: Okay.
Mr. Will Lowe: I just want to make one point.

The South Korean market is going to be a big one, and that
changed with the recent update in our negligible risk status on BSE.
South Korea was a big market 20 years ago when our first case of
BSE happened, and we've been basically shut out of South Korea
since our first case of BSE in 2003. We've recently re-established
that market. To be honest, that was probably, as far as Asian mar‐
kets go, in the top two behind Japan 20 years ago, so we're quite
thankful that we have that market back.

Mr. Arif Virani: Thank you.

I'll turn to Mr. Laird in the brief time I have remaining.

My colleague, Mr. Arya, talked to you about mining, and you
guys had a bit of an interaction with respect to the Canadian foot‐

print on the African continent, specifically with respect to mining.
You mentioned this in your opening statement as well.

Part of Minister Ng's mandate given to her by Prime Minister
Trudeau talks about an effort to kick off an Africa-Canada econom‐
ic co-operation strategy. From your perspective—you made some
comments with respect to the African continent—how present or
non-present are non-tariff trade barriers with respect to the African
continent? Is that the pressing issue, or is the issue, more broadly
speaking, your desire to have more FIPAs and more free trade
agreements signed with African countries? Could you touch on
that, please?

Mr. Ian Laird: Just really quickly....

We've seen Africa engaged in its own activity of creating a new
free trade agreement in which investment is an important part, and
there's a framework concluded. It's a ripe time for Canada to re-en‐
gage with many of its partners. As I mentioned, there are a number
of agreements in Africa that have been negotiated and not complet‐
ed, or that have just simply not been ratified but have gone that di‐
rect route. There's, indeed, some work to be done, and from a prior‐
ity point of view, certainly a great deal of the future of Canadian
international investment will be in Africa. It's a definite growth
area, and I would commend a focus on that and agree with the min‐
ister's focus.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Thank you to our witnesses for their very valuable information
for our study. We appreciate it.

Thank you to the committee members.

I move adjournment. Thank you.
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